RECEIVED 10-19-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP447-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HEATHER JAN VANBEEK,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Sheboygan County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kent Hoffmann, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JAY PUCEK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087882

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 pucekj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the officer's retention of Ms. VanBeek's driver's license and taking it to his police car to conduct a warrant check transform a consensual encounter into an illegal seizure.

The circuit court answered no.

2. Did police have reasonable suspicion to extend the length of the initial seizure in order to utilize a police dog trained in detection of the odor of drugs?

The circuit court answered yes.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By accepting review of this case, this Court has indicated that oral argument and publication are appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 12, 2017 an anonymous caller reported to police that two people were in a truck that was parked near North 6th Street and Superior Avenue in the City of Sheboygan and they had been there for an hour. (102:5). The anonymous caller also reported that someone with a backpack had approached the truck and departed. (102:5-6).

Sheboygan Police Officer Sung Oetzel was dispatched to investigate this complaint. (102:5). Officer Oetzel arrived in the area at about 12:22 a.m. and observed a truck with two occupants. (102:6, 16). However, because the anonymous caller had not provided a description of the truck, Officer Oetzel continued searching to ensure that no other trucks occupied by two people were in the area. (102:6). Finding no others, Officer Oetzel returned to the truck. (102:6). Officer Oetzel pulled his squad vehicle behind the truck and activated "take down" lights, which are bright green flood lights designed to obscure the vision of the truck's occupants. (20 at 08:52). Officer Oetzel did not activate his squad's red and blue emergency lights. (See generally 20).

Upon approaching the truck, Officer Oetzel discovered Ms. VanBeek seated in the driver's seat, and a friend named Branden Sitzberger seated in the passenger seat. (102:6). Officer Oetzel explained that there had been a complaint that two people were sitting in a truck. (20 at 00:46). Ms. VanBeek told Officer Oetzel that she was there to pick up Sitzberger. (20 at 00:52). Officer Oetzel explained that the caller reported that they had been there an

¹ All references to the body camera video received as evidence at the suppression hearing will be to the file titled "Drugs-file 2" which is the only file on the DVD that was admitted by the court. (See 102:10). Counsel will indicate where specific events happen on the video by citing to the time counter at the bottom of the screen which begins at 00:00 and reports elapsed time in the video in the minutes:seconds.

hour. (20 at 00:56). Ms. VanBeek disagreed that she was there that long without giving a specific estimate of the time she thought she had been there. (20 at 00:58). Sitzberger estimated that they had been there ten minutes. (20 at 01:00).

Officer Oetzel told them that their story "sounds legit" but asked them for their identifying information for his report. (20 at 01:13). Sitzberger asked the officer if he could just write down the information or if he needed an "ID." (20 at 01:18). Officer Oetzel responded that he wanted a "photo-ID." (20 at 01:20). Officer Oetzel also asked what Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger were doing that evening and Sitzberger responded that Ms. VanBeek was picking him up and they were going back to Cascade. (20 at 01:35). Officer Oetzel then collected and retained driver's licenses from both Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger. (20 at 01:40). Officer Oetzel told them that he would be right back and he returned to his squad vehicle with their driver's licenses. (20 at 01:53).

Before getting into his squad vehicle, Officer Oetzel spoke with another officer who was on scene. (20 at 02:00). Officer Oetzel told that officer that he did not believe anything suspicious was going on with Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger. (20 at 02:36). Further, during his testimony at the motion hearing, Officer Oetzel admitted that when he took Ms. VanBeek's and Sitzberger's driver's licenses, he had no reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. (107:9).

Once in his squad vehicle, Officer Oetzel ran a records check on both Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger. (102:11-12). Based on this check, Officer Oetzel learned that Ms. VanBeek had a valid driver's license and no warrants and that Sitzberger had no warrants but was on probation. (102:11-12; 20 at 03:28 and 05:00). Officer Oetzel also learned that Ms. VanBeek had overdosed on drugs earlier in 2017. (102:12). After learning this information, Officer Oetzel requested that an officer with a police K9 respond to the scene. (102:13).

Officer Oetzel got out of his squad vehicle to make contact with Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger again "to get their information because [he] wanted to get Officer Danen²...on scene." (102:13). Before doing so, Officer Oetzel spoke with the second officer on scene and asked him "do I have enough to just hold them here till 400^3 gets here?" (20 at 07:05).

Officer Oetzel then spoke with Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger again for three minutes, requested their addresses and phone numbers, which he wrote down. (102:13-14; 20 at 07:27-10:27). Officer Oetzel asked Ms. VanBeek to recite her address aloud while he wrote it down despite the fact that she affirmed that the address on her driver's license was current. (107:31; 20 at 08:09).

² Officer Danen is the K9 officer. (102:13).

⁴⁰⁰ is a reference to Officer Danen's radio call number. (102:13).

After writing down their addresses and phone numbers, Officer Oetzel then spent the next five minutes questioning Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger about what they were doing there that night. (20 at 10:30-15:45). During this questioning Officer Oetzel learned that Ms. VanBeek was there to pick up Sitzberger from his friend Jake's house. (20 at 10:35-10:42). Officer Oetzel questioned Sitzberger about Jake and where he lived. Sitzberger stated that he did not know Jake's last name but that he had only known him for five to six months and met him through another friend (20 at 11:09, 14:10, 14:20). Sitzberger stated that Jake lived on 7th and Superior on the same side of the street they were parked. (20 at 10:52, 11:15). Sitzberger further described the house as being white with two stories and said that it was one block and five houses down the street. (20 at 13:25, 14:05). In an attempt to be as cooperative as possible, Sitzberger told Officer Oetzel that he could call Jake if he wanted and then provided him with a phone number. (20 at 12:02, 12:52).

After questioning Sitzberger, Officer Oetzel asked Ms. VanBeek how long she had been sitting there in the truck. (20 at 14:50). Ms. VanBeek stated that she had been there for half an hour at the time when Officer Oetzel first made contact. (20 at 15:08). She stated that she had waited in the truck for Sitzberger for some time before he got there. (20 at 15:24). Officer Oetzel then told them to "hold on a second" and he walked behind the truck to speak with Officer Danen. (20 at 15:45; 107:34). After speaking with Officer Danen for about a minute,

Officer Oetzel asked Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger to exit the truck and they complied. (20 at 16:52). Officer Danen then had his police dog sniff around the truck and the dog alerted that drugs were present. (1:2). Officer Oetzel and another officer then searched the truck and discovered one gram of methamphetamine and a pipe. (20 at 18:55; 1:2).

Through this entire series of events Officer Oetzel retained Ms. VanBeek's and Sitzberger's driver's licenses. (20 at 15:38). Officer Oetzel admitted that Ms. VanBeek had committed no traffic violations, he did not see or smell any evidence of drugs leading up to the dog sniff, and he did not have consent to search the truck. (107:12-13). Officer Oetzel testified that he did not consider Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger free to leave during his contact with them. (107:27).

On November 13, 2017 the State charged Ms. VanBeek with two crimes: possession of methamphetamine and of drug possession violation of Wis. paraphernalia. in Stat. §§ 961.41(3g)(g) and 961.573(1), respectively. (1:1).

On January 10, 2018 Ms. VanBeek filed a pretrial motion to suppress all evidence in the case based on an illegal stop and search of her vehicle. (17:1). Ms. VanBeek argued that the initial stop and detention by police was illegal and that even if the initial stop was permissible, that police illegally expanded the scope of that initial stop, leading to the

search of her truck, and discovery of the evidence that led to the charges in this case. (17:1-2).

On February 23, 2018 and April 11, 2018 the circuit court held a hearing on the motion to suppress. (102:4; 107:4). At that hearing, the court heard Officer Oetzel's testimony and also viewed police body camera video from Officer Oetzel that was admitted as evidence at the hearing. (107:63; App. 103). The court ultimately denied Ms. VanBeek's motion to suppress. (107:71; App. 111).

In doing so, the court found that police received an anonymous tip regarding two people sitting in a truck for an hour at North 6th Street and Superior Avenue and that a person with a backpack had approached the truck and departed. (107:64; App. 104). This was at about 12:22 a.m. (Id.). According to the court, this anonymous tip was corroborated because Officer Oetzel responded to the area and found a truck occupied by two people. (*Id.*).

The court also made several findings related to Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger changing their stories between Officer Oetzel's first and second contact with them. Specifically these changes related to how long Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger had been parked in the truck and Sitzberger's statement that Jake lived on 8th and Superior before correcting himself and stating 7th and Superior. (107:67-68; App. 107-108). The court also believed that Sitzberger made inconsistent statements regarding which side of the road the house was on. (Id.).

With regard to the initial seizure, the court found that it was "a valid investigative stop...under community caretaker...." (107:73; App. 113). As to the extension of the stop, the court stated that it was justified by both reasonable suspicion and community caretaker based on the discovery of the additional information that Ms. VanBeek had been the victim of an overdose in 2017 and Sitzberger was on probation. (107:74-75; App. 114-115).

On August 3, 2018 Ms. VanBeek pled no contest to possession of methamphetamine, violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(g). (113:4). She was sentenced on that same day to 18 months initial confinement followed by 18 months of extended supervision. (85:1; App. 101). The court stayed that sentence and placed Ms. VanBeek on probation for 3 years. (Id.).

Ms. VanBeek appealed⁴ and the Court of Appeals certified the case to this Court. (App. at 116-133). The Court of Appeals sought certification to settle the question of whether a consensual encounter with the police transforms into an unconstitutional seizure when an officer requests and takes a person's driver's license to their squad car without reasonable suspicion. (App. at 116). The State conceded that the officer in this case did not have reasonable suspicion when he took Ms. VanBeek's license to his squad car. (App. at 120). The Court of Appeals noted that an officer's retention of a defendant's documents is an

⁴ See Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

important factor supporting the conclusion that a seizure has occurred under both United States Supreme Court and Wisconsin precedent. (App. at 122-125). The Court of Appeals also noted that the majority of courts that have considered the issue concluded that a reasonable person would not feel free to terminate the encounter when an officer takes their license to a squad car for a warrant check. (App. at 130).

ARGUMENT

- I. Officer Oetzel seized Ms. VanBeek when he retained her driver's license and took it to his squad vehicle to conduct a warrant check and that seizure was not supported by reasonable suspicion or the community caretaker doctrine.
 - Legal principles and standard of review. Α.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee people the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.

Courts have recognized that one type of seizure, called an investigatory stop, allows police to briefly detain and question a person for the purpose of investigating possible criminal behavior. State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 20, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. For an investigatory stop to be constitutionally valid, police must have a reasonable suspicion that a

crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed before making the stop. *Id*.

"Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot. A mere hunch that a person has been, is, or will be involved in criminal activity is insufficient." *Id.*, ¶ 21 (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968)(internal citations omitted)). The test focuses on an objectively reasonable officer and "simple good faith on the part of the arresting officer is not enough." *State v. Pugh*, 2013 WI App 12, ¶ 11, 345 Wis. 2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418.

Whether evidence should have been suppressed is a question of constitutional fact. $State\ v.\ Johnson$, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182. This Court defers to the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless clearly erroneous, but independently applies the relevant constitutional standards to those facts. Id.

Where an unlawful search or seizure occurs, the remedy is to suppress the evidence produced. *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1; *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

B. Officer Oetzel's retention of Ms. VanBeek's driver's license for the purpose of taking it to his squad vehicle to conduct a warrant check transformed his contact with her into a seizure.

Not all encounters between police and citizens result in a seizure. State v. Luebeck, 2006 WI App 87, ¶ 10, 292 Wis. 2d 748, 715 N.W.2d 639. Police may have voluntary interactions with other people that do not implicate the Fourth Amendment. Id. A police encounter may remain a voluntary interaction, even if the officer is questioning a citizen, "as long as the questions, the circumstances and the behavior do not convey that compliance with the requests is required." Id. (citing Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 435-36 (1991)). In such an encounter, the person being questioned need not answer and remains free to walk away. Id. The test as to whether a police citizen encounter is a seizure or a voluntary interaction is an objective one. Id. If a "reasonable person would feel free to disregard the police and go about [her] business, the encounter is consensual and no reasonable suspicion is required." *Id*.

In this case, Officer Oetzel's retention of Ms. VanBeek's driver's license and his decision to take it with him to his squad vehicle to conduct a warrant check transformed his contact with Ms. VanBeek into a seizure. *See Luebeck*, 2006 WI App 87.

In Luebeck, police stopped the defendant's car after observing it deviating from its lane. Id., ¶ 2. The

officer addressed all the issues related to the reason which included the defendant stop. performing and passing field sobriety tests and the officer informing him that he would be issuing a warning for the lane deviation. Id., ¶¶ 2-3. After addressing these issues the officer indicated that he wished to have the defendant's passenger conduct a preliminary breath test even though the defendant was able to drive. Id., ¶ 4. The officer also inquired whether there was anything illegal in the car and the defendant consented to a search, which resulted in the discovery of drugs. Id., ¶¶ 4-5. During these the officer retained additional inquiries, defendant's driver's license. Id., ¶ 4. The Court of Appeals held that the defendant's consent was invalid because he was illegally seized at the time he gave it. Id., ¶ 17. The officer's retention of his driver's license was an important factor in the conclusion that he was seized. Id., ¶¶ 15-16. That court stated:

[I]n a traffic stop context, where the test is whether a reasonable person would feel free to disregard the police and go about his or her business, the fact that the person's driver's license or other official documents are retained by the officer is a key factor in assessing whether the person is seized....

Id., ¶ 16 (internal quotes and citation omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has also held that retention of official documents is critical to whether a reasonable person would feel free to terminate a police contact. *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S.

491, 502-503 (1983). In that case two drug detectives believed Royer to be a drug courier. Id. at 493. As Royer was walking in the airport concourse to board airplane, the detectives approached identified themselves, and asked if he had a moment to speak with them. Id. at 494. They asked for his driver's license and plane ticket and noticed that the two documents had different names. Id. When the detectives inquired about this discrepancy Royer became more nervous. *Id*.

The detectives retained his driver's license and ticket and asked Royer to accompany them to a room forty feet away and he went with them. Id. The detectives produced Royer's luggage and he consented to a search, resulting in the discovery of drugs. *Id.* The Court held that this was not a voluntary encounter because even though the detectives asked Rover to go to the room, they retained his driver's license and ticket and did not indicate that he was free to leave. Id. at 501. Under those circumstances. "a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." Id. at 502.

Additionally, this Court has recently recognized the importance of an officer's retention of a person's identification in determining whether that person was seized. State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560.

In Floyd, a police officer conducted a lawful traffic stop of the defendant's car because his vehicle's registration was suspended. Id., ¶ 2. After

writing citations, the officer asked the defendant to exit the car. Id., ¶ 5. When the defendant exited his car, the officer asked if he had any weapons, to which he answered no. Id. The officer asked for consent to search for his safety and the defendant assented, resulting in the discovery of drugs. *Id*.

This Court held that the officer's questions about weapons and consent to search did not unlawfully extend the stop because such questions are part of the mission of a routine traffic stop because they relate to officer safety. Id., ¶ 28.

This Court also held that the defendant voluntarily gave his consent to the search. Id., ¶ 34. The defendant argued his consent was involuntary because the officer did not return his identification card prior to asking for consent. Id., ¶ 31. This Court concluded this was only "useful to a part of the analysis we have already resolved against Mr. Floyd's position." Id. Meaning it was only useful in deciding whether the defendant was seized. Id. The Court had already decided he was lawfully seized. Id.

Furthermore, the *Floyd* Court stated:

If an officer withholds a person's documents, there is good reason to believe the person was not free to leave at that time. That, in turn, helps us decide whether the person was seized.

Id., ¶ 31. (emphasis added)(internal quotes omitted).

Here, the encounter between Officer Oetzel and Ms. VanBeek was a consensual encounter at its inception. Officer Oetzel pulled his squad vehicle behind Ms. VanBeek's truck but did not activate any emergency lighting typically associated with being stopped by the police. He approached the truck and made contact with Ms. VanBeek in a friendly and casual manner. (See 20 at 00:40). He asked Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger a few questions that cleared up their reasons for being parked in the area. (20 at 00:40-01:13). Officer Oetzel had no suspicions about Ms. VanBeek or Sitzberger after this initial encounter. (107:9; 20 at 02:36).

Despite having no suspicions about Ms. VanBeek or Sitzberger, however, Officer Oetzel requested and retained their driver's licenses for the duration of the encounter. Just as in *Luebeck* and *Royer*, and as supported by this Court's conclusions in *Floyd*, this action transformed the contact with Ms. VanBeek and Sitzberger from a consensual contact into a seizure because no reasonable person would feel free to leave and go about his or her business once a police officer takes and retains their driver's license.

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