**FILED** 11-09-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP447-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HEATHER JAN VANBEEK,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVIICTION ENTERED IN SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KENT R. HOFFMANN, PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The officer did not seize VanBeek by taking her driver's license to his squad car to run a record check.

Under the totality of the circumstances, Officer Oetzel's encounter with VanBeek remained consensual while Oetzel briefly ran a record check in his squad car. A contrary conclusion would amount to an inappropriate *per se* rule, in conflict with Wisconsin and U.S. Supreme Court precedent.

## A. A consensual encounter with police is not a seizure.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures." State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (footnotes omitted). "Law enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment's prohibition of unreasonable seizures merely by approaching individuals on the street or in other public places and putting questions to them if they are willing to listen." United States v. Drayton, 536 U.S. 194, 200 (2002) (citations omitted). "While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response." Id. at 205 (citation omitted).

"Because not all police-citizen contacts constitute a seizure, . . . many such contacts do not fall within the safeguards afforded by the Fourth Amendment." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 18. During a voluntary police-citizen encounter, "there is no seizure and the Fourth Amendment does not apply." *Id.* In other words, "no reasonable suspicion is required" if "the encounter is consensual." *Florida v*.

Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). "The encounter will not trigger Fourth Amendment scrutiny unless it loses its consensual nature." Id.

"When the actions of the police do not show an unambiguous intent to restrain or when an individual's submission to a show of governmental authority takes the form of passive acquiescence," a court applies a reasonable person test to decide whether a seizure has occurred. Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 255 (2007).4 There are different versions of this test, and the circumstances of a given police encounter determine which test applies.

Under one version of the test, "a seizure occurs when a reasonable person would believe that he or she is not 'free to leave." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 435. "When police attempt to question a person who is walking down the street or through an airport lobby, it makes sense to inquire whether a reasonable person would feel free to continue walking." *Id.* 

But that test does not apply to every police-citizen encounter. In *Bostick*, for example, the Supreme Court held that "the 'free to leave' analysis on which [the defendant] relies is inapplicable." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 436. In a drug interdiction effort, two police officers boarded a bus and asked the defendant for consent to search his luggage. Id. at 431–32. In deciding whether the officers seized the defendant by approaching and questioning him, the Court noted that his "movements were 'confined' in a sense, but this was the natural result of his decision to take the bus; it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Examples of an unambiguous intent to restrain include physically detaining and handcuffing a person, see State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 24, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729, and grabbing a person as he tries to walk away, see State v. Pugh, 2013 WI App 12, ¶ 10, 345 Wis. 2d 832, 826 N.W.2d 418.

says nothing about whether or not the police conduct at issue was coercive." Id. at 436.

The Bostick Court relied on INS v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210 (1984), where it had held that factory workers were not seized when immigration agents entered a factory and began questioning them. Bostick, 501 U.S. at 436. Although the factory workers in *Delgado* were not free to leave, this restriction stemmed from their voluntary obligation to their employer, not from the actions of law enforcement officials. See id. Finding Delgado "analytically indistinguishable," the Bostick Court held that "the appropriate inquiry" for a bus passenger being questioned by police "is whether a reasonable person would feel free to decline the officers' requests or otherwise terminate the encounter." *Id.* 

Ultimately, "the crucial test is whether, taking into account all of the circumstances surrounding the encounter, police conduct would 'have communicated to a reasonable person that he was not at liberty to ignore the police presence and go about his business." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 437 (quoting Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567, 569 (1988)).

#### В. VanBeek's encounter with the officer was consensual before and during the record check.

As VanBeek rightly concedes, Officer Oetzel did not seize her by parking his squad car behind her truck, approaching the truck, and briefly talking with her. (VanBeek's Br. 14–15, 28.) See, e.g., Cty. of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 53, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253 (finding no seizure when an officer approached a parked car and knocked on its window); see also Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 65–69 (noting that police do not necessarily seize a

parked car by stopping behind it and shining a spotlight at it).<sup>5</sup>

VanBeek also correctly does not argue that Officer Oetzel seized her by asking to see her driver's license. "[N]o seizure occurs when police...ask to examine the individual's identification...so long as the officers do not convey a message that compliance with their requests is required." *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 437. Police officers thus may ask to see a person's identification even if they do not have reasonable suspicion. *Drayton*, 536 U.S. at 201; *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 39, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72.

Officer Oetzel's request to see VanBeek's identification was not a seizure. Officer Oetzel asked VanBeek and Sitzberger, "Could I get your guys' information for my report so that I can just get out of here? . . . [I]f I could have your photo ID . . . ." (R. 20 at 1:14–22.) Officer Oetzel did not convey that compliance with this request was mandatory. VanBeek does not argue otherwise.

The issue before this Court is whether VanBeek was seized when Officer Oetzel returned to his squad car with VanBeek's license to run a record check. VanBeek was not seized then. "Examples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." *State v. Kramar*, 149 Wis. 2d

<sup>5</sup> VanBeek disputes whether Officer Oetzel had lawful authority as a community caretaker to briefly seize her to see why she was sitting in a parked truck. (VanBeek's Br. 27.) This dispute does not matter because VanBeek concedes that Officer Oetzel did not seize her before she handed over her license. (VanBeek's Br. 14–15, 28.)

767, 781–82, 440 N.W.2d 317 (1989). The presence of other civilians supports the notion that a police-citizen encounter was consensual, not a seizure. See Drayton, 536 U.S. at 204. If an officer does not draw a weapon, then his or her uniform, badge, and weapon belt have "little weight" in the analysis. See id. at 204–05. The general factors discussed in this paragraph heavily weigh in favor of finding no seizure while Oetzel ran a record check.

So do five additional points specific to Oetzel's possession of VanBeek's license: (1) VanBeek was free to express a desire to leave when Oetzel asked for her identification: (2) Oetzel did not restrict movement during the record check; (3) a reasonable person would think that VanBeek had consented to Oetzel taking her license to the squad car for a few minutes; (4) Oetzel did not retain VanBeek's license for an unduly long time during the record check; and (5) VanBeek was free to ask for her license back when Oetzel returned to her truck.

First, the interaction right before Officer Oetzel walked away with VanBeek's license shows that Oetzel was not seizing VanBeek. VanBeek "could have refused to cooperate when Officer [Oetzel] asked [her] for [her] identification." United States v. Weaver, 282 F.3d 302, 312 (4th Cir. 2002). When Officer Oetzel asked VanBeek for identification, in other words, she was "free to express an alternative wish to go on [her] way." Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380, 388 (Fla. 1983). During that initial conversation, VanBeek never "sought to leave or otherwise refused to communicate with [Officer Oetzel] or indicated a desire to terminate the encounter." State v. Mitchell, 638 So. 2d 1015, 1016 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1994).

Instead, VanBeek freely handed her license to Officer Oetzel upon request, and she did not object when Oetzel said that he would be right back and began to walk back to his

Filed 11-09-2020

squad car. Specifically, after receiving licenses from VanBeek and Sitzberger, Oetzel told them, "I'll be right back. Okay?" (R. 20 at 1:52-1:53.) VanBeek or Sitzberger responded, "All right." (R. 20 at 1:53.)

Second, while Officer Oetzel ran a record check in his squad car, he "did not otherwise restrict [VanBeek's] movement." United States v. Ford, 548 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 2008). VanBeek, for example, "was not removed from the street to a confined space while [Oetzel] ran the background check." Id. Oetzel never "ordered [VanBeek] to remain in [her] vehicle while he checked [her] license, nor did [Oetzel] in any other way give [VanBeek] the impression [she] was not free to leave at that point." People v. Graves, 553 N.E.2d 810, 813 (Ill. App. Ct. 1990) (citation omitted). Courts have found seizures where, in contrast to VanBeek's case, police officers instructed defendants to wait in or near their vehicles while the officers ran record checks with the defendants' identification cards. United States v. Lopez, 443 F.3d 1280, 1286 (10th Cir. 2006); State v. Strom, 333 P.3d 218, 221 (Mont. 2014).

Third, a reasonable person in VanBeek's position would understand that she was consenting to allow Officer Oetzel to spend a few minutes running a record check in his squad car. When a person voluntarily hands his driver's license to a police officer, a person could reasonably construe that act as consent for the officer to return to his squad car for a few minutes to examine the license. See United States v. Carpenter, 462 F.3d 981, 985-86 (8th Cir. 2006). This point is significant because a police "encounter will not trigger Fourth Amendment scrutiny unless it loses its consensual nature." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434. Stated differently, an encounter becomes a seizure when an officer's "words and actions would have conveyed . . . to a reasonable person" that the person "was being ordered to restrict his [or

Filed 11-09-2020

her] movement." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 39 (citation omitted). A reasonable person would not construe Officer Oetzel's act of briefly returning to his squad car with VanBeek's license as an order restricting VanBeek's movement. A reasonable person would instead view VanBeek's act of voluntarily handing over her license as consent to part with her license for a few minutes. See Carpenter, 462 F.3d at 985–86.6 After all, Oetzel asked for VanBeek's identification "for [his] report." (R. 20 at 1:14– 1:17.) It would be unreasonable to think that Oetzel would memorize all the information on VanBeek's license. VanBeek should have reasonably thought that Oetzel would take her license back to his squad car for a few minutes.

Fourth, Officer Oetzel did not spend too much time running a record check in his squad car. Courts have held "the *lengthy* retention of documents such identification and airline tickets is a factor in determining whether a stop has occurred." United States v. Rodriguez, 69 F.3d 136, 142 (7th Cir. 1995) (emphasis added). According to one court, "undue retention of an individual's driver's license during a traffic stop renders the encounter nonconsensual." United States v. Lambert, 46 F.3d 1064, 1068 (10th Cir. 1995). In Lambert, for example, the court held that "the thirty minute retention of the license exceeded permissible length of time to determine if Mr. Lambert was wanted for any crimes." Id. at 1068 n.3. The court reasoned that federal agents requested Lambert's driver's license to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although the *Carpenter* court framed the seizure issue as what the deputy would reasonably think, the proper focus is on what a reasonable person in the defendant's position would think. See United States v. Lopez, 443 F.3d 1280, 1283–84 (10th Cir. 2006).

verify his identity, which they were able to do almost immediately after receiving it. *Id*.

Here, unlike in Lambert, Officer Oetzel did not retain VanBeek's license before or during the record check for an unduly long time. Again, Oetzel asked for identification "for [his] report." (R. 20 at 1:14–1:17.) Verifying the accuracy of VanBeek's license and copying its information for Oetzel's report would take longer than a few seconds. Oetzel resumed talking to VanBeek less than six minutes after she handed her license to him. (R. 20 at 1:40–7:28.) This amount of time is not too long for examining a license in a squad car during a consensual encounter. See Carpenter, 462 F.3d at 985–86 (finding four or five-minute examination of defendant's license in squad car reasonable and not a seizure). And VanBeek's license was not "held in the police cruiser after the necessary check was completed." Weaver, 282 F.3d at 312. VanBeek's license was visibly in Oetzel's hands when he resumed talking to VanBeek at her truck after running the record check. (R. 20 at 7:37-7:38.) The record "check did not take so long that a reasonable person, having surrendered [her] identification in the first place to the police for inspection, would understand that [she] was no longer free to end the small talk and go about [her] business." State v. Martin, 79 So. 3d 951, 959 (La. 2011).

Fifth and finally, VanBeek's interaction with Officer Oetzel upon his return to her truck shows that Oetzel did not seize her by previously taking her license to his squad car. When Oetzel returned to VanBeek's truck with her license in hand, VanBeek "was free at this point to request that [her] license be returned to [her] so that [she] could end the encounter." Weaver, 282 F.3d at 312. "For whatever reason," though, VanBeek "chose not to do this." Id. at 313. She instead "chose to stay and have a dialogue with Officer

[Oetzel]." Id. These facts suggest that their encounter was voluntary up to this point. See id.

At bottom, "the crucial test is whether" a reasonable person in VanBeek's position would have felt free "to ignore the police presence and go about [her] business." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 437 (quoting *Chesternut*, 486 U.S. at 569). In applying this test, a court should "focus on what the person's immediate 'business' is, in order to decide if the police retention of his papers would likely impede his freedom to proceed with it." United States v. Jordan, 958 F.2d 1085, 1088 (D.C. Cir. 1992). When Officer Oetzel began speaking with VanBeek and Sitzberger, their immediate business was sitting in VanBeek's truck, and they had plans to go to Cascade. When Oetzel asked for VanBeek's identification, she was free to decline the request and express a desire to leave. While Oetzel used VanBeek's license to run a record check for a few minutes, VanBeek was "unrestrained from going about [her] 'ordinary business' of sitting in the [truck], while [Oetzel] held [VanBeek's license]." United States v. Savage, 889 F.2d 1113, 1117 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 1989). And then, when Oetzel returned to VanBeek's truck with her license, she was free to ask for her license back so she could leave.

True, VanBeek could not legally drive away, or practically walk away, without her license during the record check. But "the mere fact that [VanBeek] did not feel free to leave . . . does not mean that the police seized [her]." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 436. Her "movements were 'confined' in a sense, but this was the natural result of [her] decision to [give her license to Officer Oetzell; it says nothing about whether or not the police conduct at issue was coercive." Id. Officer Oetzel's request for VanBeek's identification and his brief record check were not coercive.

Filed 11-09-2020

In short, Oetzel did not seize VanBeek until sometime after he returned to her truck, after running a record check.

C. This Court should reject proposed bright-line rule that the officer seized her by using her license to run a record check.

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